
A REGULAR MEETING OF THE PLAN COMMISSION 
OF THE VILLAGE OF BOLINGBROOK 

March 9, 2016 
 

CALL TO ORDER 
Chairman Fletcher called the meeting to order at 8:00 p.m., Wednesday, March 9, 2016. 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
Present:  Commissioners Terri Bethune, Talat Rashid, Lon Schank, Mary Alexander-Basta, Calvin 

Wright, Rick Campos, Vice Chair Seymoure Pritikin, Chairman Fletcher 
 
Absent:  Commissioner J.D. Rhoades 
 
Staff:  Planning & Zoning Administrator, Matt Eastman; Village Engineer, Tom Pawlowicz 
 
Press:   None 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
None 
 
PUBLIC HEARING 
 
ANNEXATION AND REZONING FROM E-R TO I-1 AND R-3.  21038 W. 127TH STREET, PLAINFIELD, 
IL 60585.  [MARY KELLEY PROPERTY].   APPLICANT:  STEPHEN PALA, NORTHERN BUILDERS, 
INC.  PROEJCT NO.:  431.15 
 
Motion Schank, second Vice Chair Pritikin to open the public hearing that was continued from February 
17, 2016. 
AYES: Commissioners Bethune, Rashid, Schank, Wright, Alexander-Basta, Campos, Vice Chair 

Pritikin, Chairman Fletcher 
NAYS: None 
ABSENT: Commissioners Rhoades 
Motion carried, public hearing opened at 8:00 p.m. 
 
Planning and Zoning Administrator, Matt Eastman, presented the request.  The applicant is requesting 
approval of a Rezoning from E-R Estate Residence to I-1 Limited Industrial and R-3 Single Family 
Residence in order to rezone two existing lots of record at 21038 W. 127th Street, Plainfield, IL  60585 
which is north of Remington Boulevard, south of Rodeo Drive, east of Kings Road and west of Dalton 
Lane.  The applicant is seeking approval of a rezoning of the above-referenced property from E-R Estate 
Residence to I-1 Limited Industrial and R-3 Single Family Residence.  Whenever a property is annexed 
into the Village it is initially classified as E-R Estate Residence necessitating a rezoning to a more 
appropriate zone.  In this instance the appropriate classifications are I-1 Limited Industrial and R-3 Single 
Family Residence since the majority of the surrounding properties are so zoned and in order to pursue 
developing said lots with future industrial and residential developments.  The applicant is proposing to 
develop the property in three phases.  Phase 1A and 1B, along with Phase 2, would consist of 
approximately 214.65 acres which would be zoned and developed as industrial, while Phase 3 would 
consist of approximately 112.13 acres which would be zoned and developed as residential.   
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends approval of a Rezoning from E-R Estate Residence to I-1 Limited Industrial and R-3 
Single Family Residence for the property located at 21038 W. 127th Street, Plainfield, 60585, commonly 
known as Mary Kelley Farm, subject to the approval of the annexation and annexation agreement. 
 
DISCUSSION 
Tom Gresecki, President of Northern Builders, Schiller Park, IL, sworn.  Mr. Gresecki gave a presentation 
on the future development.  He stated he wanted to give thanks for allowing him to give a presentation 
and he wanted to introduce the members of Northern Builders that would be involved in this project.  He 



  

                                                                               pc min 03.09.16 2 

said Northern Builders is an organization that has been in business since 1927 and prides in the 
development that they do.  He said they have done a number of business parks in the Chicagoland area 
including one in Bolingbrook.  He stated they developed two properties along Weber Road consisting of 
242 acres. In the past 19 years they have developed 13 buildings in the Carlow Corporate Center, which 
consist of approximately three million square feet.  He went on to discuss what they are proposing to do 
in this three phase development.  He said the first phase consists of 110 acres along the west side of 
Dalton Lane, the second phase would also be approximately 110 acres and the third phase 112 acres.  
The larger building would be serviced exclusively from Remington Boulevard on the south.  The buildings 
would all have the docks on the rear of the buildings facing the south away from Rodeo Drive.  He said 
there is currently a water feature with an entry sign on the corner of Rodeo Drive and Weber Road that 
was installed 20 years ago, which will be redone to match the new features.  He added that the buildings 
that will be facing Rodeo Drive would be designed to be Corporate Headquarters, and that Rodeo Drive 
would be widened from Dalton Lane about three thousand feet to a new roundabout in the intersection of 
Rodeo Drive and Kings Road.  He said they would establish covenants and restriction for all the business 
parks, and would restrict their tenants and clients to prohibit any type of truck idling.  He said they would 
also include in the contracts and leases that trucks are to only use Remington Boulevard for access to the 
park.  He explained that by law the could not restrict them.   
 
Chairman Fletcher questioned if the ponds by the new driveway in the middle of the development would 
have additional water features, if the buildings in the north end of the development would have lighting 
other than around the landscaping, and if the corporate headquarters would be 100% office space or also 
include distribution. 
 
Mr. Greseki stated the ponds by the new driveway would have aerators and would not be lit.  The ponds 
facing Rodeo Drive would have cascading water features with low accent lighting and that all the lights for 
the buildings would either face down or face the buildings.  He said the pond lighting would be ground 
accent lighting LED under the water.  He explained that the buildings off of Rodeo Drive would have an 
office appearance facing Rodeo Drive, which would include a lot glass, but that it could have light 
warehousing or assembly.  There might be docks installed in the rear of the building, but they would not 
be noticeable from the front of the building. 
 
Vice Chair Pritikin questioned if truck traffic would be allowed going southbound into the facility, how the 
truck traffic would be restricted going northbound, and about the no idling policy. 
 
Mr. Greseki stated they would be installing signage that indicates that trucks are restricted, that they will 
clearly state on the covenants and restrictions that truck idling is prohibited beyond 30 minutes, and that 
all the buildings will be designed to have the docks facing the south. 
 
Chairman Alexander-Basta questioned the traffic.  She asked what the traffic studies stated in reference 
to the existing and new development.  She stated that she believed even with the road expansion there 
would be a lot of congestion especially if trucks would be allowed.  
 
Mr. Greseki said that the traffic studies indicated that once the expansion was complete on Rodeo Drive, 
and having the proposed industrial and residential along with all of Americana Estates Subdivision 
completely built out, they would never encounter congestion. That the impact of traffic would not be 
noticed.  He went on to explain that the new proposed road in the development would be located directly 
across from the church building on Rodeo Drive, which is technically not in Bolingbrook.  He stated that 
the way the road is designed now per IDOT:  It is designed for 10,0000 vehicles and once the expansion 
is complete it will be designed for 30,000 vehicles a day. 
 
Village Engineer, Tom Pawlowicz stated that Rodeo Drive was studied by IDOT years back and it was 
considered as a Strategic Regional Arterial Roadway (SRA) because it has a lot of continuity.  The road 
calls for a traffic signal at Kings Road, but the Village has changed that to a roundabout.  Also, a traffic 
signal was proposed at Essington Road.  He explained that once the road was expanded to four lanes 
and a median that it would be much like Boughton Road and would be able to handle a tremendous 
amount of traffic.  He said the difference from Boughton Road and Rodeo Drive is that there would not be 
a traffic signal at every side street.  He said the Village will have to monitor Rodeo Drive once the 
property is developed as well as the Bronk parcels to make sure a traffic signal is not required. 



  

                                                                               pc min 03.09.16 3 

 
Chairman Fletcher questioned if there were plans to extend Kings Road south from Hassert Boulevard to 
119th Street and Kings Road down to Remington Boulevard. 
 
Mr. Pawlowicz stated that the right of way was already reserved for the connection of Kings Road from 
Hassert Boulevard to Rodeo Road, but that the plans were not completely done due to funding.  He 
stated the there was a conceptual plan for Kings Road and Remington Boulevard, but that the current 
alignment goes straight south passed the school and into Remington Boulevard.  He said Kings Road 
would go from Remington Boulevard past Boughton Road and into Naperville.    
 
Commissioner Rashid questioned the percentage of light manufacturing versus distribution.   
 
Mr. Greseki stated that the larger building located toward the rear of the development would be more 
distribution as well as the smaller buildings in the middle would be more light distribution.  He said there 
would be light manufacturing and assembly.  He added that once the proposed residential development is 
complete there would be no entrances from Rodeo Drive into the residential area.  The entrance would be 
off of Kings Road. 
 
Michael Larmon, Bolingbrook, IL sworn.  Mr. Larmon stated he was the Vice President of the Somerfield 
Homeowners Association and he wanted to speak on behalf of the homeowner’s association as well as 
the 491 homeowners in Somerfield Subdivision.  He stated he wanted the committee to think very 
carefully about this development before supporting it.  He said the current homeowners are constantly 
annoyed with the increased noise of the current tenants of the existing businesses along Rodeo Drive.  
He said that he believed that the noise, traffic and pollution would double, if this property is development 
with industrial warehouses.  He stated they were afraid the traffic would increase at the intersection of 
Dalton Lane and Rodeo Drive.  He explained that, that is a main entrance into their subdivision and a key 
entry point for the residents.  The impending construction on Weber Road and I-55 would have an impact 
on Rodeo Drive for residents of Bolingbrook and surrounding communities.  He said if the board agrees to 
move forward with this project that there should be some concessions put forth so that the residents of 
Somerfield and Southgate Park Subdivisions get noise abatement on Rodeo Drive.  He said a further 
solution to the noise abatement situation would be to install a traffic light at the intersection of Rodeo 
Drive and Dalton Lane.  He said currently one of the existing tenants has a pond which is wider than the 
one being proposed for the new development and he wanted to know if there is anything that was going 
to get done to the existing tenants to match the new proposals. 
 
Edward Flavin, Bolingbrook, IL sworn.  Mr. Flavin commented that he was very thrilled to see the 
proposal.  He said he has been in the subdivision for 10 years and he understood the concerns that have 
been brought up.  He said a traffic signal at Dalton Lane could be very beneficial to avoid collisions.  He 
stated people pulling into his subdivision on Madison Avenue are using it as thoroughfare and exceeding 
the speed limit.  He also stated that he believed having this developed would increase the value of the 
surrounding properties. 
 
Daniel Stone, Bolingbrook, IL sworn.  Mr. Stone stated he is a landscape architect and has worked on 
several projects in Bolingbrook.  He said he appreciates the design but has a concern.  He said a traffic 
light would be recommended at the intersection of Dalton Lane and Rodeo Drive, but that the landscaping 
looked great.  He said he would also like to see more buffers within both subdivisions.  He stated berms 
cut down on the noise, and would appreciate it if more were added. 
 
Tom Swoboda, Bolingbrook, IL sworn.  Mr. Swoboda stated he had a concern in reference to the 
roundabout.  He said he feels that having a roundabout will cause more accidents than having a traffic 
signal.  He believes that there will be more occurrences more accidents and more traffic would build up.   
 
Luay Aboona, Rosemont, IL, sworn.  Mr. Aboona works for KOLA.  He explained that roundabouts have 
been proven to be a lot safer than a typical signalized intersection. He said there has been a lot of studies 
done and they have found that there has been less accidents.  If a roundabout is properly designed they 
would be more efficient and would accommodate all types of vehicles including trucks, pedestrian and 
bicyclists. 
 



  

                                                                               pc min 03.09.16 4 

Chairman Fletcher stated the interchange was not part of this hearing, but he wanted to ask Mr. Aboona 
since he was a traffic expert.  He wanted to know about the traffic flow in the new design in the 
interchange.  He commented that for the motorists it was going to be a very difficult process while it is 
under construction.  He asked to share his expertise of how the new design might affect the increased 
traffic flow from the additional development. 
 
Mr. Aboona stated the proposed design is called Divergent Diamond Interchange.  He mentioned that the 
interchange on Route 59 was the first one built in the State of Illinois, but that they were common in 
Missouri.  He said it is a very efficient design which cuts down on accidents.  He said all cars entering and 
exiting would only be making right hand turns.  He explained that it has been proven to be very safe in 
terms of accommodating additional traffic.  IDOT has projections that it could accommodate up to 50,000 
cars a day and Weber Road currently carries 38,000 cars.  He said Weber Road is going to end up 
having three lanes in each direction from north of Rodeo Drive and south of the interchange.  He said 
there is going to be plenty of added capacity not only in the interchange, but also throughout the 
corresponding intersections.  He said this would be the best design for this area, that it would require less 
pavement and be more cost effective. 
 
Vice Chair Pritikin questioned the concerns that the residents were having regarding the roundabout.  He 
wanted to know the frequency to severity ratios on accidents.  
 
Mr. Aboona said the severity would be an improvement, a signalized intersection could have cars that are 
attempting to make a left hand turn in either a controlled condition like an arrow or under a yield condition.  
The most severe condition would be if someone is turning left and is misjudging the cars coming that 
would cause a severe accident.  Other accidents would be people running a red light which would create 
additional hazards.  As far as the roundabout all the movements entering the circle would be to the right 
hand which would lessen the impact of conflict with left turns.   
 
David Startek, Bolingbrook, IL, sworn.  Mr. Startek questioned if the trucks going north on Rodeo Drive 
would be prohibited, and if there were any restriction in the Carlow Development when it was first 
constructed.  He also questioned the roundabout. 
 
Mr. Greseki made mention that the roundabout was a Village project and not something that Northern 
Builders was proposing.  He stated that when Carlow was first developed Remington Boulevard was not. 
So there were no restrictions. 
 
Chad Ebel, Bolingbrook, IL, sworn.  Mr. Ebel questioned if the majority of the trucks would be going to the 
bigger warehouses towards the back of the development, if the goal was to have more activity to the 
south of the development which would force people to go northbound, and who would be enforcing the 
truck idling.  He also mentioned that there are currently a lot of bus stops near the entrance of Southgate 
Park subdivision which would be another added issue. 
 
Mr. Greseki said Remington Boulevard was designed as a heavy truck route, and that the way the 
proposed buildings were designed the trucks would not be able to exit onto Rodeo Drive. He stated they 
would not have employees policing the area for truck idling, but it would be in the covenants and 
restrictions so if it were to occur they would be violating their contract. 
 
Jason Fox, Bolingbrook, IL, sworn.  Mr. Fox stated he moved in to Southgate Park Subdivision in 
December 2015 and his backyard faces Rodeo Drive.  He stated he loved the area and the 
neighborhood.  He said in the three months of living in this community he has noticed there is a speed 
concern on Rodeo Drive, especially in the evenings.  He stated people are driving 50 to 60 miles per 
hour.  He explained that if a traffic light would be installed either at Dalton Road, Kings Road or 
somewhere in between it would be very beneficial.  He said if a traffic signal would not be an option than 
he would recommend lowering the speed limit to 35. He stated his fear once the road is widened to four 
lanes that everyone from surrounding areas would be using Rodeo Drive because it would be easier 
access to their destinations which will draw more people to this street.  He questioned how long it would 
take for the completion of Rodeo Drive and if there are stipulations on the hours of construction when 
doing the street and the development. 
 



  

                                                                               pc min 03.09.16 5 

Mr. Greseki stated that it would take 12 to 18 months to finish the widening of Rodeo Drive.  Mr. Eastman 
stated that normal construction hours Monday through Saturday from 7:00 am to 7:00 pm, but that the 
Village could work with Northern Builders to alter that time.   
 
Dave Endress, Bolingbrook, IL sworn.  Mr. Endress stated one of his biggest concerns is noise.  He said 
the backup alarms from the trucks are very loud, and he can currently hear the alarms from the existing 
warehouses which are farther from him than the proposed development.  He said the alarms are very 
constant along with noise as if something is being dropped.  He said he appreciated the fact that there will 
be residential in the proposed development, but believes they will have trouble selling.  He also has 
concerns that the property value of his home will go down, and asked if all the reconstruction was going 
to cause his property taxes to go up.   
 
Mr. Pawlowicz stated that the Developer would be paying for everything onsite and the completion of 
Rodeo Drive, and that the Residential Developer would be paying for the expansion of Kings Road.  He 
explained that Northern Builders would be paying for the completion of northern half of Remington 
Boulevard and also for the recapture fees for the water and sewer lines.  He said the only thing the 
Village of Bolingbrook would be paying for is the roundabout, but that the Village had already applied for 
Federal Grant money to cover the costs.  He stated the Federal Government is promoting roundabouts.   
 
Motion Wright, second Alexander- Basta to close the public hearing. 
AYES: Commissioners Bethune, Rashid, Schank, Wright, Alexander-Basta, Campos, Vice Chair 

Pritikin, Chairman Fletcher 
NAYS: None 
ABSENT: Commissioner Rhoades  
Motion carried, public hearing closed 9:35 p.m. 
 
Motion Vice Chair Pritikin, second Schank to accept the recommendation of Planning Staff. 
AYES: Commissioners Bethune, Rashid, Schank, Wright, Alexander-Basta, Campos, Vice Chair 

Pritikin, Chairman Fletcher 
NAYS: None 
ABSENT: Commissioner Rhoades 
Motion carried. 
 
APPROVAL OF FINDINGS OF FACT 
 
PC 16.03 Approval of an Annexation and Rezoning from E-R to I-1 and R-3 and Adoption of 
Findings of Fact.  Project No.:  431.15 
 
Voice Vote    
AYES: Commissioners Bethune, Rashid, Schank, Wright, Campos, Vice Chair Pritikin, Chairman 

Fletcher 
NAYS: Commissioner Alexander-Basta 
ABSENT: Commissioner Rhoades  
Motion carried. 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
None  
 
OLD BUSINESS 
None 
 
CITIZENS TO BE HEARD 
None  
 
CHAIR’S REPORT 
None 
 
 



  

                                                                               pc min 03.09.16 6 

COMMISSIONER’S REPORT 
None  
 
PLANNING DEPARTMENT REPORT 
None  
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
Motion Vice Chair Pritikin, second Wright to adjourn. 
 
Voice Vote:  Unanimous 
Motion carried. 
 
Chairman Fletcher adjourned the meeting at 9:37 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
         CHAIRMAN 
 
 
 
         APPROVED 
 
 
             
                                            SECRETARY 


